2001

The State of Utah v. Willie Folkes : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE NATURE OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from a conviction of unlawful possession of a controlled substance with intent to distribute for value Utah Code Ann. §58-37-8(1)(ii) (1953), in the Third District Court in and for Salt Lake County, State of Utah, the Honorable Jay E. Banks, presiding.

DISPOSITION IN THE LOWER COURT

The appellant, Willie Folkes, was convicted by a jury of the crime of unlawful distribution of a controlled substance with intent to distribute for value on November 12, 1974, before the Honorable Jay E. Banks, of the Third Judicial District Court. The defendant was sentenced by the court to serve, one to fifteen years in the Utah State Prison, the indeterminate term of imprisonment which is provided by law.

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Appellant seeks a reversal of the judgment of guilt entered against him and a new trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At approximately 2:00 a.m. on May 26, 1974, two policemen (Officers Bell and Niemann) were stationed on the roof of the Rio Grand Products Building making observations of the street below for the purpose of facilitating the arrest of certain individuals unconnected with the present case (R. 3,32, 33, 51). While in the process of gathering data for those arrests, Officer Bell heard voices emanating from a second story apartment of the Baywood Apartment house which is immediately adjacent to the Rio Grand Products Building. Officer Bell testified that he saw a hand holding a syringe reach from a window of that apartment and squirt a clear substance into the alleyway (R.33). Officer Bell watched this activity for a short period of time and then signalled to his partner (Niemann) to join him beneath the window (R.33,34). The officers then together sat down immediately adjacent to the window of the apartment on the window ledge. The officers, desirous of getting close to the window to observe the activities occurring inside the apartment, positioned themselves on each side of the window at a distance of one foot from the defendant (R.37,51). Sitting in this position, the officers observed the movements and overheard the conversations of the appellant and the other occupants of the apartment by peering through the apartment's kitchen window. The officers observed activities which led them to

believe that illegal drug use was in progress (R.3, 33, 34, 37). Officer Bell, from his vantage point, was able to observe the appellant walk into the bedroom and obtain an amber colored bottle from which gelatin capsules were produced (R. 36,37). Officer Bell at no time communicated this information to Officer Niemann. Officer Niemann did not observe this activity in connection with the amber colored bottle (R.6). After two and one half hours of this observation, one of the officers made a noise which drew the attention of the appellant. The appellant signalled to the other occupants of the apartment to be quiet while he proceeded into the bedroom to investigate the noise (R.40). The appellant opened the bedroom window and stuck his head through it. At that time, Officer Niemann identified himself, and with revolver drawn, entered the apartment through the bedroom window (R. 6,41). Officer Bell then stuck his revolver through the screen of the kitchen window and ordered one of the occupants to stand where he was. Once Officer Niemann had secured the kitchen area, Officer Bell entered the apartment by climbing through the bedroom window and climbing over the bed next to the window. The appellant and the other occupants were then arrested in the kitchen (R. 6, 41). Upon the defendant's arrest he was handcuffed with his hands behind his back in the kitchen (R. 6, 94, 99). Officer Niemann then proceeded to make a cursory search of the entire apartment (R.84). The search disclosed an amber colored bottle on a dresser in the bedroom (R.6,84). The bedroom was dark and the officer could not detect what, if anything, was in the bottle (R. 6,7). Officer Niemann had never seen the bottle during the alleged illegal drug activity, and indeed, saw it for the first time when he searched the bedroom (R.89, 90). The search was

undertaken after the defendant had been arrested and handcuffed away from the bedroom in the kitchen. The bottle, containing gelatin capsules filled with heroin, was introduced as evidence against the defendant at his trial. The police surveillance and arrest were made without a search or arrest warrant (R.8).

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE SURVEILLANCE TECHNIQUE EMPLOYED BY THE POLICE, CONSTITUTED AN INVASION OF THE APPELLANT'S RIGHT TO PRIVACY SUCH THAT ANY EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS A RESULT THEREOF SHOULD HAVE BEEN EXCLUDED AT TRIAL.

The seminal case on right to privacy in Utah is State v. Kent, 20 U.2d 1, 432 P.2d 64 (1967). In this case, based on an informant's tip that the defendant was involved in a number of drugstore burglaries, a police officer requested permission and obtained it from a motel manager to use a hidden vantage point to maintain surveillance of the defendant in his motel unit. With the consent of the manager, the police officer entered the attic of the motel and peered through a ventilator located in the ceiling of the bathroom of the unit in which the defendant was staying. From this vantage point, the officer observed the entire bathroom and part of the bedroom. This surveillance was undertaken prior to the officer's procurement of a search warrant. In Kent this Court held that such surveillance was an unlawful invasion of the defendant's privacy rendering all the evidence seized by the police as a result of this surveillance and subsequent search inadmissible in the prosecution of the defendant for unlawful possession of a narcotic drug. The Court reached this conclusion notwithstanding the fact that the observation of the defendant had not required the police to

take any affirmative action such as removing vent covers or technically trespassing under common law property concepts.

Applying reasoning that foreshadowed the United States Supreme Court case of Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967), this Court dismissed the State's contention that the defendant's conviction and the trial court's denial of his motion to suppress the evidence should be affirmed on the ground that there was no physical trespass or unlawful entry into the premises of the defendant. Citing Silverman v. United States, 365 U.S. 505 (1961), this Court said that the determination of whether there has been an intrusion into a constitutionally protected area of privacy does not rest on whether there has been a trespass according to local property law. Instead, it was noted that although there may or may not be a trespass according to property laws, the gravamen of the harm is the injury to the individual's constitutionally protected right to privacy. The court emphasized that the home, even though it is merely a room in a motel, is a sanctuary, and a place where an individual has a right to be "free from outside intrusion and observation; a place inviolate where he could repose in security." (432 P.2d at 69) The obvious historical implications of intruding into one's abode in a free democratic society were noted by this Court. Fourth Amendment protections are just as inviolable in a motel room; and with only a few exceptions, a motel manager's consent was held not constitutionally sufficient to justify an officer making a warrantless search of a tenant's premises:

We are of the opinion the defendant, in renting the motel unit, obtained the exclusive right to use it, which included the right to privacy. It is true that this right may be forfeited by illegal use of the property, but such unlawful utilization must first be established by legal means. (20 U.2d at 1, 8, 432 P.2d at 68-69)

The ratio decidendi enunciated in Kent inheres in the instant case with the same compelling logic. Although there was no initial trespass or physical entry into the appellant's apartment, it is clear that under Kent, the surveillance made by the officers who eavesdropped without a search warrant by sitting on the appellant's window ledge violated the right to privacy in one's own home assured by the Fourth Amendment and Article One, Section Fourteen of the Utah Constitution.

Private conversations as well as physical items are within the protection of the Fourth Amendment's prohibition of unreasonable searches and seizures. The landmark United States Supreme Court case of Katz v. United States, 389 U.S. 347 (1967), also stands for the proposition that eavesdropping activities employed by the government constitute a search and seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. In Katz, the government officers overheard the defendant's private telephone conversation by means of an electronic eavesdropping device attached to the exterior of a telephone booth. In holding that the overheard conversations were the product of an illegal search and seizure, the United States Supreme Court said:

"The Government's activities in electronically listening to and recording the petitioner's words violated the privacy upon which he justifiably relied while using the telephone booth and thus constituted a search and seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment." (389 U.S. at 353).

In emphasizing that the Fourth Amendment protects not only property interests but protects all private activities of an individual, the Court in Katz, further stated:

"For the Fourth Amendment protects people, not places. What a person knowingly exposes to the public, even in his own home or office, is not a subject of Fourth Amendment protection [Citations Omitted] But what he seeks to preserve as private, even in an area accessible to the public may be constitutionally protected." (Emphasis Supplied)
(389 U.S. at 351)

It is evident from Katz, and Kent that the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution¹ protects that which one seeks to preserve as private as well as an individual's property rights. This protection extends far beyond tangible personal items and includes intangibles such as private conversations. Hence, a judicially authorized search warrant based on probable cause is a mandatory requirement for the seizure of private conversations and activities. Berger v. New York, 388 U.S. 41 (1967).

Prior to the Katz and Kent decisions, surveillance activities, standing alone, without actual physical entry by the police upon the premises, did not constitute a search and seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment. Olmstead v. United States, 277 U.S. 438 (1928) Goldman v. United States, 316 U.S. 129 (1942). However, the United States Supreme Court in Katz, overruling Olmstead and Goldman, both specifically rejected the contention that a search, for purposes

¹ As well as Article I, Section 14 of the Constitution which provides in language similar to the Fourth Amendment: "The right of the people to be secure in this persons, houses, papers and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures shall not be violated; and no warrant shall issue but upon probable cause supported by oath or affirmation describing the place to be searched, and the person or thing to be seized."

of the Fourth Amendment, required physical entry onto the premises and held that police surveillance of private conversations, without actual entry or penetration onto premises, constituted an illegal search and seizure. At one juncture the Court said:

"[I]t becomes clear that the reach of that Amendment [the Fourth Amendment] cannot turn upon the presence or absence of a physical intrusion into any given enclosure The fact that the electronic device employed . . . did not happen to penetrate the wall of the booth can have no constitutional significance." (389 U.S. at 353) (Emphasis Supplied)

Applying Katz, to the present case, it is important to recognize that the appellant's private conversations and activities which took place from 2:00 to 4:00 a.m. on May 26, 1974, within the confines of his private residence, were not exposed to the public and were to be preserved as private. Hence, the surveillance made by two police officers who were eavesdropping without a search warrant by sitting on the appellant's window ledge for several hours two stories above the ground, peering into his kitchen in the middle of the night and mentally recording his private conversations and movements so as to produce them at trial, constituted a shocking invasion of the appellant's privacy and an illegal search and seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment and Article One, Section 14 of the Federal and State Constitutions, respectively. The illegal search and seizure was made prior to arrest, by means of the surveillance despite non-entry by the police. Because the evidence obtained as a result of an invasion of the appellant's privacy was admitted at trial after a suppression hearing and over objections made by appellant's counsel, the appellant's conviction must be reversed.

The Katz decision and the rationale of Kent have been applied in many cases where the factual setting has been strikingly similar to that of the present case. In Lorenzana v. Superior Court, 9 Cal 3rd 626, 108 Cal. Rptr. 585, 511 P.2d 33 (1973), the California Supreme Court held that evidence, both audio and visual, obtained as the result of police peering into the defendant's apartment, was the product of an illegal search and seizure and inadmissible at trial.

The police in Lorenzana peeked through the defendant's window and observed him emptying some powdery contents of a tied-off rubber balloon onto a newspaper. Concluding that the substance was heroin, the police entered the apartment, arrested the defendant, and seized narcotics. Considering the Fourth Amendment claims made by the defendant, the court ruled that the observations made and the conversations overheard by the police who were standing next to the house in an area not open to public use were the products of an illegal search and seizure. If the surveillance had been made from an area normally used by the public, the evidence received therefrom would have been legally obtained and admissible at trial. But because the evidence was obtained by police stationed at a non-public vantage point, the surveillance activities constituted an illegal search and seizure of the defendant's conversations and movements. Holding that the defendant's reasonable expectation of privacy had been invaded, the court excluded the testimony of the police officers at trial.

The facts of the present case likewise indicate that police observed movements and overheard conversations from a vantage point outside the realm of public use and access. One would be hard pressed to conclude that the appellant would expect that members of the public would normally peek into his second story apartment window at 2:00 a.m. in the morning. Therefore, according to Lorenzana, any evidence, whether audio or visual, obtained by the police as a result of the use of their non-public vantage point, located on the window ledge of a private apartment two stories above the ground at 2:00 a.m. must be excluded at trial. Katz properly applies in such a situation and hence the trial court's finding that the evidence so obtained was admissible constitutes reversible error.

The assertion that the police had been authorized by the owner of the Rio Grand Products Building to use its roof for the purpose of observing prostitutes on the street below, does not vitiate the unlawful intrusion into the defendant's privacy, even though initial police observations were made from the roof of the Rio Grand Building and not from the defendant's window ledge. The test for determining the legality of police surveillance activities is not whether the police had permission to use a non public vantage point, but whether the vantage point was in fact not normally used by or accessible to the public such that its use by the police would be an invasion of privacy reasonably to be expected by appellant.

In People v. Fly, 34 Cal. App. 3rd 665, 110 Cal. Rptr. 158 (1973), the police received permission from defendant's neighbor to use his (the neighbor's) backyard as a vantage point for observing plants growing in the defendant's backyard. The police used a telescope to

identify the plants as marijuana and then arrested the defendant. In refusing to decide whether the use of the telescope was unlawful, the court concluded:

"We do not reach that issue [regarding the telescope] because we conclude that, on the record in this case, the evidence supports the finding that the officer viewed the yard on both occasions, from a vantage point as to which the defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy." (110 Cal. Rptr. at 159) (Emphasis Supplied).

According to Fly, it makes no difference that police have permission to use a particular vantage point for observations. With or without permission, if the vantage point is one as to which the defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy, any evidence obtained by the police from that vantage point has been obtained as the result of an unwarranted invasion upon the defendant's privacy. If an invasion of privacy has been made, it is of no significance that police had non-judicial permission to make that invasion.

A test has been formulated for determining whether police surveillance from a particular vantage point is an unreasonable invasion of the privacy of those being observed. In Cohen v. Superior Court, 5 Cal. pp. 3rd 429, 85 Cal. Rptr. 354 (1970), the police observed illegal drugs on a table inside the defendant's home by standing on the fire escape of an apartment building and looking through the window of the defendant's fourth story apartment. The court, in determining the legality vel non of the surveillance, expressed the following test:

"The test to be applied in determining whether observations into a residence violates the Fourth Amendment is whether there has been an unreasonable invasion of the privacy of the occupants, not the extent of the trespass which was necessary to reach the observation point. (85 Cal. Rptr. at 358) (Emphasis Supplied).

Applying Fly, and the test of Cohen, to the present case, it becomes immaterial that the police obtained permission to use the roof of an adjacent building as a vantage point. The material conclusion that must be reached is that the police, even while they were on the roof of the adjacent building and before they sat down on the appellant's window ledge, were utilizing a non-public vantage point as to which the defendant had a reasonable expectation of privacy. Regardless of any non-judicial permission to use the roof any observations made therefrom constituted an illegal search and seizure because the police had not received judicial authorization to utilize a non public vantage point as to which the defendant and other occupants of his second story apartment nearby would have a reasonable expectation of privacy. Cohen and Fly, supra. Therefore, to protect the appellant's and the public's constitutional right of privacy, precious to a free and open society, his conviction must be reversed. Katz, supra, See also Olivera v. State, 315 So. 2d 487 (Fla. App. 1975), Storry v. State, 452 P. 2d 822 (Okla. Cir. 1969), Pate v. Municipal Court, 11 Cal App 3rd 721, 89 Cal. Rptr. 893 (1970).

POINT II

THE SEARCH OF THE APPELLANT'S BEDROOM AFTER HE HAD BEEN ARRESTED AND HANDCUFFED IN THE KITCHEN WAS BEYOND THE AREA WITHIN HIS IMMEDIATE CONTROL, AND THEREFORE VIOLATED HIS RIGHT TO PRIVACY, SO THAT ANY EVIDENCE OBTAINED AS A RESULT THEREOF SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED AT TRIAL.

In dealing with the law of search and seizure as mandated by the Fourth and Fourteenth Amendments of the United States constitution and Article One, Section Fourteen of the Utah Constitution we begin with the proposition that any search conducted outside of the judicial process is per se unreasonable. State v. Kent, 20 U.2d, 9, 432 P.2d 64 (1967). The rule has long been established that whenever practicable an officer must secure a search warrant before intruding into constitutionally protected areas. Trupiano v. United States, 334 U.S. 699 (1948). The interposition of a neutral and detached magistrate at the point where the probable cause determination is made is essential to safeguard an individual's Fourth Amendment rights because a police officer's judgment is necessarily colored by his prior involvement in the often competitive enterprise of ferreting out crime." Johnson v. United States, 333 10, 14 (1948). The Court enunciated this principle in McDonald v. United States, 334 U.S. 451 (1948):

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