2001

The State of Utah v. Willie Folkes : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

It is helpful to compare the knowledge of the officer in the Terry case to that of Officer Bell. In Terry the policeman merely saw some men walking up and down a street looking suspiciously in a store window. On the other hand Officer Bell heard individuals actually discussing the commission of a crime, "shooting up heroin". Further, he not only heard those words but at the same time he saw a hand holding a syringe. Officer Bell, armed with a great deal of probable cause, had the full right if not the moral duty to investigate.

Appellant characterizes this as a case where his actions were:

". . . private conversations and activities. . . within the confines of his private residence [which] were not exposed to the public and were preserved as private."

Respondent submits that the facts do not justify such a characterization. If it was a private conversation why was the window left open? Further, the hand and the syringe were extended out of the window and into the "plain view" of an officer who had a right to be where he was.

Appellant's entire authority can be distinguished thus, on the basis that in none of his cited cases was an officer drawn to ongoing suspicious activity which he inadvertantly discovers. In Katz, supra, and State v. Kent, 20 U.2d 1, 432 P.2d 64 (1967), as well as the other cases cited by appellant, a police officer, without a search warrant, specifically set up an eavesdropping type of surveillance the main target of which was a certain individual. The burden of those cases is that if an officer had time to set up the eavesdrop, then he had time to obtain a warrant, and that a warrant would not be issued if it would be used to invade a place where a person had reasonably expected privacy.

Katz and the others do not stand for the proposition of appellant, that a police officer is not entitled to

investigate suspicious activity simply because he sees it or hears it from a private residence. Appellant would suggest that if a policeman heard a scream for help, he could not climb up a fire escape and look through a window to see what the trouble was. This however, is not the law.

In summary, when a policeman inadvertantly sees and hears suspicious activity, he has the right, under Terry v. Ohio, to investigate.

POINT II

THE SEIZURE OF THE HEROIN WAS LEGALLY ACCOMPLISHED.

In the instant case, police observed the following take place in a small two-room apartment (T. 34). Appellant came out of the bedroom and into the kitchen with a small amber bottle. From it he produced two capsules which he sold to a woman who was in the kitchen (T. 36,37). That woman, with the help of another woman present, emptied the contents of the capsules into a spoon and added some water. This mixture was heated and then drawn into a syringe. Finally each woman injected a portion of the substance into the others arm. The women then left (T. 37,38).

The police observed appellant return the small amber bottle to the bedroom (T. 39). A short time later appellant again went into the bedroom and brought out the bottle. He took one capsule from it and gave it to a man in the kitchen (T. 39). This man then followed the same procedure as the women had done (T. 39). The police again observed appellant return the bottle to the bedroom (T. 40).

After the police inadvertently made a noise outside the window appellant got up to investigate. Appellant went into the bedroom where the bottle was and looked out the window (T. 40). Officer Niemann pointed his revolver at appellant and told him to stand still (T. 40). The other man, who was still in the kitchen made a move toward the door. Officer Bell, however, stuck his revolver through the kitchen screen and ordered the man to remain in the kitchen (T. 41). Officer Niemann climbed in the bedroom window and accompanied appellant into the kitchen where he could keep his eye on both men. When the situation was secured in this way, Officer Bell also climbed through the bedroom window (T. 41). After the men were searched and handcuffed one officer returned to the bedroom to retrieve the small amber bottle which they had observed appellant put there (T. 43).

Appellant argues that the actual arrest was in the kitchen and therefore the seizure of the heroin-filled bottle was illegal as being outside appellant's control. Respondent submits, however, that if the retrieval of the bottle constituted a search at all then it was lawful on either of two exceptions to the warrant requirement: search incident to arrest and plain view. Respondent points out that the arrest occurred in the bedroom placing the bottle easily within appellant's control. Also, since the seizure of the bottle did not constitute a wide-ranging exploratory type search it is legally permissible under the circumstances.

A. There Was No Search In This Case

The facts show that the officers personally witnessed a crime. One of them personally observed the bottle from which the heroin was taken. They saw where the appellant kept the bottle. Therefore, after the arrest they simply picked up the bottle as evidence. There was no search. The officer knew what was in the bedroom and merely picked it up as evidence. It is absurd to suggest that a search warrant was necessary in this case. If the police officers had accosted appellant in the kitchen and had seen him toss a bottle into the other room, there is no doubt but that they could go and pick it up. They would not have to get a warrant merely because

the evidence was in that manner placed out of appellant's reach. It is the same in this case except that the bottle was placed in the bedroom right before the arrest instead of right afterward. Appellant would have this Court illogically restrict the police from doing that which is dictated by common sense. Appellant's proposals are directly contrary to the public interest.

B. The Seizure Is Permissible Under The "Plain View" Doctrine.

Respondent refers the Court to the third point in this brief for a discussion of the "plain view" doctrine. Suffice it to say, at this point that while observing the drug sale the police were in a place where they had a right to be, the amber bottle was in plain view, the discovery was inadvertant, and its incriminating nature was immediately apparent. Therefore, the officers had a right to seize the bottle notwithstanding the fact they lost visual contact with it for a moment.

C. Even If There Was A Search, It Was Permissible Under Chimel Standards.

In Chimel v. California, 395 U.S. 752 (1969), the United States Supreme Court said that in connection with a lawful arrest, police officers are justified in searching the area surrounding the arrestee from which he

might gain possession of a weapon or destroy evidence (395 U.S. at 763). The Court also said that the extent of the search must be "tied to and justified" by the circumstances of the arrest (395 U.S. at 762). Respondent submits that the "search" in this case, if it can be called that, was justified by the circumstances of the arrest. Also the arrest occurred in the bedroom and not in the kitchen. Therefore, the seizure of the bottle is permissible.

As indicated supra, Chimel holds that the extent of a search incident to arrest is to be justified by the circumstances of the case. The Utah Supreme Court also adheres to this position. In State v. Farnsworth, 30 U.2d 439, 519 P.2d 244 (1974), this Court said:

"The question to be answered is whether under the circumstances the search or seizure is one which fair minded persons, knowing the facts, and giving due consideration to the rights and interests of the public, as well as to those of the suspect, would judge to be an unreasonable or oppressive intrusion against the latter's rights." (30 U.2d at 438-439) (Emphasis added.)

Thus, in determining whether a search is valid, the trier of facts must give due consideration to the circumstances of the case. The fact finder must then

apply a balancing test with the rights and interests of the public being weighed against those of a defendant. In this case, it is submitted that the circumstances overwhelmingly suggested that a seizure of the bottle was legal, if not logically mandated. Further this very brief and minor intrusion on appellant's rights carries insignificant weight as opposed to the rights and interests of the public.

People v. Concepcion, 341 N.E. 2d 823 (New York 1975) is very similar to the instant case. There, two undercover agents knew from personal observation that a bartender kept narcotics in a refrigerator, and that he sold drugs to patrons of his tavern. The police confronted the man, had him open the refrigerator, at which time they seized its contents. The New York Courts of Appeals said:

"We conclude that the courts below could properly have found that the search and seizure were properly conducted; that 'there was not a wide-ranging, exploratory, rummaging, or routine search of the character condemned in Chimel. . . ." (341 N.E. 2d at 824).

This logic applies to the present case. In Chimel a defendant was arrested and then police went through

his whole house looking for incriminating materials. Drawers were opened, closets, boxes, etc. The search included everything. However, in the present case, as in Concepcion, the officers knew right where to go to get the evidence. There was nothing but the slightest of intrusions on appellant's rights.

Finally, appellant was arrested in the bedroom, not in the kitchen, therefore the seizure of the bottle is valid. In People v. Hall, 226 N.W. 2d 562 (Michigan 1975), a man was ordered by a police officer to get out of a car. He did, whereupon the arrest was completed and he was handcuffed. Then the officers went back and seized a packet in the car. The Court held that the seizure was okay since:

"We do not deem the slight change in defendant's position with regard to the packet as significant since the packet was obviously within the zone of defendant's immediate physical control at the time the police began arresting him, which is the crucial point of reference for Chimel. (226 N.W.2d at 563). (original emphasis).

Likewise, in the present case, the arrest started in the bedroom. That is where the officer pointed his gun at appellant and ordered him to freeze. The arrest was not placing of handcuffs on the appellant. Rather, it occurred

when he was restricted so that he knew he was not free to leave. Henry v. State, 494 P.2d 661 (Okla. Cri, 1972), State v. Sullivan, 395 P.2d 745 (Wash. 1964), State v. Vaughn, 471 P.2d 744 (Ariz. 1970), State v. Frazier, 537 P.2d 711 (N.M. 1975), Rodarte v. City of Riverton, 552 P.2d 1245 (Wyo. 1976). Therefore, since the arrest was in the bedroom, the bottle could be seized. This position was espoused in State v. Noles, 546 P.2d 814 (Ariz. 1976). A man was arrested while lying on a motel room bed. He was then handcuffed and placed on the floor and surrounded by four police officers. An officer then went over to a nightstand and found a gun in the drawer. The court sustained the validity of the search since the nightstand had been "within the immediate control of the defendant at the time of arrest." (at 817-818). Likewise, in the instant case, the officer could go and get the bottle at the original location of the arrest although the defendant had been handcuffed and moved a few feet.

In summary, Respondent submits that under the circumstances the seizure was valid. A very brief and slight intrusion on appellant's rights was more than justified by the facts known by the officers. This slight

intrusion was heavily outweighed by the rights of the people of the State of Utah. The decision of the lower court, validating the seizure, should be affirmed.

POINT III

THE SEIZURE OF AND INTRUSION INTO THE BOTTLE WAS CONSTITUTIONALLY VALID.

Both the Utah Supreme Court and the United States Supreme Court have said that contraband which is in plain view may be seized by police. State v. Sims, 30 U.2d 251, 516 P.2d 354 (1973), and Coolidge v. New Hampshire, 402 U.S. 443 (1971). However, four conditions must be met: (1) the officer must be lawfully present where the search and seizure takes place; (2) the discovery must be "inadvertant"; (3) the seizable object must be in plain view; and (4) its incriminating nature must be immediately apparent. Coolidge v. New Hampshire, supra, and Ringle, Searches, Seizures, Arrests and Confessions, Section 162 (1975 Supp. at 94).

Respondent submits that all of the above requirements were met and that the seizure of the bottle was legally accomplished.

First, the officers were lawfully present when they saw the amber bottle in plain view. They were on

the roof of the Rio Grande Products Building, by permission, to watch for illegal prostitution activity on Second South (T. 33). Second, the discovery was inadvertant. The Baywood Hotel physically adjoins the Rio Grande Building and the Hotel has windows on the adjoining side (T. 143-144, 33). As one officer was walking on the roof of the Rio Grande Building he heard voices talking about "shooting up" heroin. Then he observed a hand reach underneath a window holding a syringe. A clear liquid was squirted out of the syringe (T. 33).

Third, the seizable object must be in plain view. After observing and hearing apparently illegal activity the officer looked into the window and saw the bottle in plain view (T. 36). Fourth, the incriminating nature of the bottle was immediately apparent. Capsules were taken from the amber bottle, opened and the contents was injected into the arms of persons present (T. 37). Thus, all of the requirements of the plain view doctrine are satisfied. Therefore, when the officers entered the apartment, they seized the small amber bottle from the place where they had observed appellat put it.

All the authority used by appellant does not apply to this case for the simple reason that he views the actions from a much too narrow scope. If extended, his argument is that if the police eye-contact with an incriminating item is ever broken, plain view is lost. This is not the law. In People v. Hauschel, 550 P.2d 876 (Colo. 1976), police officers viewed incriminating items in "plain view" but did not seize them. Then, about 12 hours later that same day, the items were seized. The court sustained the seizure even though eye-contact with the incriminating evidence was disrupted for an extensive period. In the instant case, the incriminating evidence was viewed and a right to seize it was established prior to the officers ever entering the apartment. The bottle was merely sitting on a dresser in the bedroom and one officer there retrieved it (T. 84).

Further, the bottle wasn't just an innocent looking bottle as appellant alleges. The officers had personally observed people inject the contents of that bottle into their arms (T. 37).

Finally, appellant claims that although one officer knew all about the bottle, the second didn't and it was this latter officer that seized the bottle.

Appellant argues that since the knowing officer didn't communicate his knowledge to the seizing officer, the latter must have randomly seized the bottle. Respondent, however, directs the Court to the testimony of Officer Bell.

"Q. [by Defense Council] Had you made any comment prior to [the arrest] to Mr. Niemann about the amber bottle, or had he made any comment to you about it?

A. Yes, I made the comment to him about it.

Q. Prior to entering the room?

A. Oh yes.

Q. What comment had you made to him?

A. Well, as we were motioning as he brought the bottle into the room, I just mouthed the words he was taking it to the bedroom and pointed to the bedroom like this (indicating), and he nodded up and down. We didn't converse too much out there on the ledge between the two of us. (T. 66,67).

Respondent must admit that the other officer was less than sure about whether or not he was told of the amber bottle. His testimony was that he simply could not remember.

"Q. Prior to [seizing] the amber bottle of pills, did you have any knowledge of it whatsoever?

A. I don't recall if Don mentioned it to me as we went in or not. I know I didn't see it before entering, but I really can't remember if he told me that it was there or if I just visually observed it and picked it up." (T. 96).

In other words, one officer remembered the conversation and the other officer didn't. The evidence is a matter for the trier of facts and its weight is to be determined by him. State v. Mills, 530 P.2d 1272 (Utah 1975), Fritz v. State, 554 P.2d 819 (Colo. 1976). On appeal the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the jury verdict. State v. Berchtold, 11 Utah 2d 208 at 214, 357 P.2d 183 (1960), State v. Danks, 10 Utah 2d 162, 350 P.2d 106 (1959). In other words, unless there is a clear showing of lack of evidence, the decision of the lower court must be affirmed. State v. Romero, 554 P.2d 216 (Utah 1976).

Finally, even if the seizing officer (Niemann) didn't fully comprehend what he had seized, it is nothing more than harmless error since Officer Bell probably would have retrieved the bottle if his partner had not already done so.

In summary, since the "plain view" exception to the search requirement is satisfied, the seizure of the amber bottle should be sustained.

CONCLUSION

Wherefore, based upon the arguments presented above, it is urged that this Court affirm appellant's conviction.